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IN THE UNITED 
-

STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

PULASKI COUNTY, ARKANSAS; 
CAROLYN STALEY, Pulaski County 
Circuit-County Clerk; JERRY 
LAAKOWSKI, Chair of the Pulaski 
Coun~y Board of Election 
Commissioners; SALLY STEVENS 
and CHARLES KING, members of 
the Pulaski County Board of 
Election Commissioners, 

Defendant9 . 

CIVIL ACTION NO. 
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) 
) __________________ ) 

COMPLAINT 

The United States of Americ a, Plaintiff herein, a ll eges: 

1. This action is brought pursuant to ~he Nation~l Voter 

Registration Act of 1993 ( 11NVRA 11 
), 42 U.S.C. 197399 et seq ., and 

28 u.s .c. 2201. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the al l egations in 

t his complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C . 1331, 13~5 and ?.201, and 

42 u.s.c. 1973gg-9. 

3. Defendant Pulaski County is a councy within the State 

of Arkansas and is s ubject t o the requirements of thei NVRA. 

4. Defendant Carolyn Staley is t he Circui t-County Clerk 

f or Pulaski County and the permanent registrar of vocers, and is 

sued i n her official capacity. Defendant Staley is responsible 

for the admini stration of procedur es for voter reg istrati on and 
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the conduct of elections in Pulaski county, to which the 

requirements of the NVRA apply. 

5. The members of the Pulaski County Board of Election 

Commissioners are responsible for ensuring that elections and 

election practices conducted by the county are in accordance with 

state and federal election laws, and have the legal authority to 

direct the permanent registrar to determine by reasonabl e means 

at any time within the whole or any part of the county whether 

active Record Registration Files contain the names of any persons 

not qual ified by law to vote. 

6. Defendant Jerry Larkowski is the Chair of t h e Pulaski 

County Board of Election Commissioners, and is sued in his 

official capacity. 

7. Defendant sally Stevens is a member of the Pulaski 

County Board of Elections Commissioners, and is sued in her 

o fficial capacity. 

8. Defendant Charles King is a member of the Pulaski 

County Board of Elections, and is sued in his official capacity. 

9. Section 8 of the NVR.A, 42 U.S.C. l973gg-6, sets forth 

requirements for the adminis tration of voter registrution for 

elections for Federal office. 

10. Pulaski County was required to implement the provisions 

of the NVRA beginning January l, 1995. 

11. rn 1995, the Arkansas Legis lature enacted l egislation 

to a mend the Constitu ti on of the State of Arkansas to 
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substantially conform t he voter registration procedures of 

Arkansas counties with the NVRA. 

12. Section 8 { a) (1) of the NVRA, 42 U.S. C. 1973gg-6 (a) (1 ) , 

requi res that any eligible applicant who appl i es to register to 

vote at a voter registration agency shall be regi stered t o vote 

in an election if the valid voter registration form of t he 

applicant is accepted at the voter registracion a gency no t l ater 

t han the lesser of 30 days, or the period provided by State law, 

before the date of the e l ection. 

13. Section S (a.) (4) of the NVRA, 42 U.S.C. 197Jgg- 6(a ) ( 4 } , 

requires tha t the administrator of v o ter r egist ratic,n for 

elections for federal office in Pulaski County conduct a general 

program that makes a reasonabl e effort to remove the names of 

ineligible voters from t he offic i al list s of eligible voters by 

reas on of the death of t he regi scrant or a change in the 

residence of the registrant, in accordance wi t h subsections (b), 

(c), and (d) of that Section. 

14. Section B(b} of the NVRA, 42 U.S.C. 1973gg -6 (b}, 

requires that any program or activity to protect the integrity of 

the electoral process by ensuring the maintenance of an accurate 

and current voter registration roll for elections for Federal 

office (1) shall be uniform, non- discriminatory, and in 

compliance with the Voting Rights Act of 1965 (42 U.S . C. 1973 e t 

seq,) and (2) shall not result i n t he removal o f the name of a ny 

person from the official list of voters registered to vot e in an 
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election for federal office by reason of t he person's failure to 

vote. 

15. Section S(f ) of the NVRA sets fort h procedures for 

voters who change their address within the jurisdict ion of the 

regis trar (iln the case of a change of address, for voting 

purposes , o f a registrant to another address within the same 

registrar's jurisdiction, the registrar shall correct the voting 

registrat ion list accordingly, a nd t he registrant's name may not 

be removed from the official list of eligible voters by reason of 

s uch a c hange of address except as provided in subsection (d). 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

16. Defendants Pulaski County, Staley, Larkowski, Stevens, 

and King , and their employees and agents at t he Pulaski County 

Circuit -County Clerk's office and Pul aski County Board of 

Election Commissioners , have fail ed, and continue to fail, to 

impl ement or ful ly implement voter regi stration procedures 

required by Section 8(a) (1) of the NVRA, 42 u,s.c. 1 973gg-6 (1), 

in the following respects: 

a. Completed voter registration applicat.ions accepted at 

the Pulaski County Cir cui t-County Clerk's office have not. been 

processed in a timely and complete manner , with the result that 

eligible applicants were not effectively registered and able to 

vote i n their appropriate precincts within 30 days of acceptance, 

as required by Section 8 (2 ) (1) of the NVRA, 42 U. S.C. 1973 gg-

6(a) (1 ) . 
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b. Defendants have failed to develop and implement uniform 

rules and policies to govern the provision and processing of 

applications for voter registration for Federal office in a 

manner consistent with the requirements of Section B(a) of the 

NVRA, 42 U.S.C. 19?3gg-6(a). 

c. Defendants have not enforced substantive 13tandards or 

provided adequate training to ensure that agents, e mployees and 

representatives of the Pulaski county Circuit-County Clerk's 

office provide, collect and process completed voter regi stration 

applications in compliance with Section S(a) of the NVR.A, 42 

U . S . C . 197 3 gg- 6 (al . 

d. Unless and until ordered to do so by this court, 

Defendants will continue to fail to provi de eligible persons who 

apply for voter registration at the county voter registration 

agency an effecrive opportunity to register to vote in elections 

for Federal office in the manner provided by Section S(a) of the 

NVRA , 42 U.S.C. 1973gg~6(a). 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

17 . Defendants Pulaski County, Stal ey , Larkowski , Stev ens, 

and King, and their employees and agents at the Pulaski County 

Circuit-County Clerk 's office and Pulaski County Board of 

Election Commiss ioners, have failed, and continue to f ai l, to 

conduct a general program that make s a reasonable ef fort to 

remove the names of ineligible voters from the offic i al lists of 

eligible voters by reason of the death of the registrant or a 

change in the residence of the registrant. in violation of 

- 5 -
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Section 8 (a ) ( 4 ) of the NVRA, 42 U.S.C. 197399-6 (a ) (4), in the 

fol lowing respects : 

a. Defendants hav e failed to deve l op and implement uniform 

rules and pol icies governing the removal of names of ineligible 

voters by reason of the death of t he registrant or a change in 

the residence of the regi strant, in accordance with subs ections 

(b) , (c) and (d) ; 

b . Defendants have not enforced subs tantive etandards or 

provided adequate tra i ning to ensure that agents, e mployees and 

representat i ves of the Pulaski County Circuit-County Clerk 1 s 

o ffice make a reasonable effort to remove the names of ineligible 

voters by reason o f the death of the registrant or a change in 

the res idence of the registrant , in accordance with s ubsecti ons 

(b) , (c) a nd (d) . 

c . Unless and unt il ordered t o do so b y t his Court, 

Defendants will continue to fail to conduct a general p rogram 

that makes a reasonable effort to remove the names o :E ineligible 

vote rs from the official lis t of eligible voters by r eason of the 

deat h of the registrant or a change in the res idence o f the 

regis tran t in accordance with s ub sect i ons (b) , ( c ) and (d ) . 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

18 . Defendants Pul aski County, Staley, Larkowski, Steven s, 

and King , and their employees and agents at the Pul aski County 

Circuit - County Clerk 's office and Pulaski Courity Board of 

Election Commissioners, have failed, and continue to fa il , to 

ensure t hat any programs or activi ties t o protec t the integri ty 

- 6 -
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of the electoral process by ensuring the ma intenanc e of an 

accurate and current voter r eg i str a tion r oll f or e lect ions for 

federal office shal l be uniform and shall not result in the 

removal o f the name of a ny person f rom the off i c ial list of 

vote rs regis tered to vote in an election for Federal office by 

reason of the person's failure to vote, in violation of Section 

8(b) of the NVRA, 42 U.S .C . 1973gg-6(b); i n the following 

respects : 

a. The p ermanent registrar of Pulaski County has conduc ted 

progra ms and/ or ac tivi ties for t he removal of voters from the 

registration r olls for elections for Federal office that were not 

uniform in their application; 

b. Defendant s l ack ad~quat e rules and procedures governing 

t he conduct of p rograms and activi ti es to maintain an accurate 

and current voter registration roll for elections for Federal 

o ffi ce to ensure that such programs and ac tivit ies are uniform , 

nondiscrimi natory and in compliance with t he Voting Rights Act of 

1965, 42 0.S.C. 1973 et seq. ; 

c. Defendants fail to enf orce substantive s tandards o r 

provide adequate tra ining t o ensure t ha t agents, employe es and 

repre sentat ives of the Pulaski County Ci rcuit -County Clerk ' s 

of fice make a reasonable effort to conduct programs ,:md 

activities to ma intain an a ccurate and current voter registration 

roll f or elections for Federal office that are uni form, 

nondiscriminatory and in compliance with the Vot ing Ri ghts Act of 

1965 , 42 u.s.c. 1973 et s eq.; 
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d. Unless and until ordered to do so by this Court, 

Defendants wil l continue to fail to c onduct adequate programs and 

activities t o maintain an accurate and current voter regi stration 

roll for elect i ons for Federal off ice that are unifr,rm and in 

accordance with Section 8(b) of the NVRA, 4 2 U. S.C. 1973gg-6 (b) 

WHER~FORE, Plaint if f United States prays for an order: 

I. Declaring t hat Defendants are in violation of Section 8 

of the NVRA, 42 U. S. C. 197399-6 et seq., which sets forth 

requirements with respect to the '?-dministration of voter 

regis tration f o r el e6tions for F~deral of fice; 

II. En joining t he Defendants, their agent s and successors 

in office, and all persons acting in concert with any of them 

from failing or refusing to comply with the reguirem.ent s o f 

Sect ion 8 of the NV.RA, 42 U.S.C. 1973gg- 6; and, 

III. Orderi ng the Defendants, their agents and successors in 

of f ice and all persons acting in concert with any of them to: 

A. TaKe all steps necessary to remedy the demons t rat ed 

violations of Section 8 o f the NVRA , 42 U. S. C. 1973gg-

6; and 

B. Provide t he Court withi n 45 d~ys from the date of the 

Court ' s order a plan designed to remedy the 

demonstrated violations of Section 8 of the NVRA , 42 

u.s.c. 1973gg-6 , and to affirmatively administer the 

registration of voters in t he manner speci f ied by 

Sect ion 8 of the NVRA, 42 U. S.C. 1973gg-6, and in 
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compl i a nce with t he Voting Rights Act , 42 u.s.c . 1973 

e t s eq. 

IV. Plaintiff further prays that this Court order s uch 

ot.her re l ief as the intere_st of justice may require , together 

with the costs and disbursements of this a c tion . 

JOHN ASHCROFT 
Attorney General 

Assist.ant Attor ney General 
Civil Rights Di vision 

H.E. BUD CUMMIN~, III 
Un ited States Atto rney 
Eastern District of Arkansas 
Ark ansas Bar #89010 
Post Office Box 1229 
Little Rock, AR 72203 
(50 1 ) 34 0-2600 (tel ephone ) 

JOSEPH D . RICH 
Chief, Vot i ng Section 

1 .A~i/ 
~) a . 

KENGLEROBERT A. 
AMY H. NEMKO 
ABEL GOMEZ 
Attorneys, Voting Section 
Civil Rights Divis ion 
Department o f Justice 
950 Penn sylvania ~venue, NW 
Room 725 4 , NWB 
Washington, D. C. 20035-6128 
(202) 5 14-32 32 ( telephone) 
(202) 307-3961 (facsimile) 
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